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Claimant Bari Martz appeals the district coudtsler affirmingthe decision
of the Social Security Commissioner (“Commission&r”award disability
insurance benefits toerfor a closed period of disability frodanuary 8, 2007,
until September 10, 2010. The Commissioner declined to award disabildfjtden
beyond September 10, 2010, base@ bnding of the Administrative Law Judge
(“ALJ") that Martz had experienced significant medical improvement as of
September 11, 2010, sufficient to allow keperform a full range of light work.
This being the case, the Commissioner determined that Martz could perform her
past relevant work as an art teacher, and therefore wassabted as athis later
date. Martz challenges the Commissioner’s decision, argtiagsheremains
unable to work on a continued and sustained basis due to chronic fatigue and other
symptoms stemming from her sclerodeniisease

On appeal, Martzlallenges the ALJ’s determination on three grounds
First, she asserts thhhe ALJ assighedoo lowaweight to theopiniorns ofher
treating physician, Dr. Joseph Shanalamtoo high a weight téthe non
examiningmedical expert, Dr. John GriscorBhefurthercontends that the ALJ
erred by discrediting her subjective complaints of impairmetally, she argues
that the ALJ violated her due process rights by denying her request to cross

examine Dr. Griscom. After careful review, and with the benefit of oral argument,
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we reverse the district court’s order affirming the Commissioner’s denial of
benefits and remand
|. BACKGROUND

A. Disability Application

In 1995,Martz developed Raynaud’s phenomenaulisorder that causes the
blood cells in the figers and toes to constrict when an individual is cold or
stressed Approximately &n years lateiMartz noticed increased symptoms related
to her Raynaud’s condition, astiealso began experiencirgiry cough,
gastroesophageal reflux, swelling in her hands, and tightening of the skin over her
hands, forearms, face, and loveatremities In October 2006, she was diagnosed
with cutaneous scleroderma, an autoimmune disease that causes the body to over
produce collagerwhich in turn affects the skin, joints, and internal organs.
Martz's condition declined rapidlyBy November 2006she had decreased
pulmonary function and wdaterdiagnosed with interstitial lung disease,
secondary to the sclerodermia an effort toslow theprogression of the disease,
Martz participated in a clinical trial at Duke University in February 2007,
undergoingnyeloablative therapy (high dose chemotherapy and radiation),

followed by a stem cell transplant.
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Martz applied for disability insurance benefits in November 208Heging
a disability onset date of January 26, 2007 adsertedhat shevas disabled and
unable to work due tthescleroderma. The Commissioner concluded that Martz
met the medical requirements for disability, but dolythe oneyear period
following her stem cell transplant: thatfrem January 26, 200until February
26, 2008. Martzhenrequested a hearing before an ALJ.

B. Administrative Hearing

At the first hearing in September 2010, the parties agoeextend the
period of time for which Martz should be found to be disabled by one year,
through February 27, 2009. A second hearing was held in March 2011, at which
the ALJ agreed to send a second set of interrogatories to the medical expert
selected byhe Commissioner. A third and final hearing was held on September
22, 2011 at which Martz testified as the only witneéssupport of her disability
application Prior to that hearing, Martz was permitted to send a third set of
interrogatories to the expert, which the expert retdprior to the hearing.

1. Martz’s Testimony

Martztestifiedthatshe was 52 years old and held a master’s degree in

business administration. She had previously worked as a retail maanadf@en

! For unknown reasons, Martz’s disability insurance benefits application is not ihafuthe
administrativerecord. The parties also appear to dispute the date in which Martz filed the
application. However, the date of filiignot relevant to the isses raised on appeal.
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anart teacherbut was forced to stop working in January 20@@&rebeing
diagnosed with “life threateningystemic, scleroderma.” At that time, she had
only 40 percent lung capacity and less tseimonths to live.After undergoinga
stem cell transplant, howevéeriung function and quality of life improvedShe
did not returrto normal functionality however

Martz testified that fatigue, which was the result of hemolytic anemia,
prevented her from returning to work ftilne. She hadobtaireda parttime job
in August 2010training new docents at the Boca Raton Art Museamdshe
could handle theejob dutiesbecause the job only involved working two days a
week, during which she remained seated mostatime except for some walkg
during the traineegractice tours Martz initially worked eight hours per day,
earning$15.45 per hour $he found, however, that working eight hours on a given
daytired her too much and therefore she hadetducenerscheduldo severhours
per dayduring each of the twdayseachweek she workedMartz explained that
she was able to perform this pairhe jobonly becauséat was sdflexible. That is,
she couldstay seated as long lasr fatigue required her to do smd couldyet up
and move around ghe was ntonger comfortable remaining seatdeurther, ter
employerpermitedher to go homearlywhenevershebecameoo tired to

continue working
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With respect to her daily activities, Maaoks light meals and drives her
car no more than five to ten miles away from home, but her huglesfe¥msthe
more strenuous household tasks, such as vacuuming and cle@hetgstified
that here hd not been one dajuring the operative period of timéhen she ha
not feltfatigued, and there kiabeen some dayshen shehad been unable even to
get off of thecouch.

2. Medical Record

In addition to Martz’s testimony, the evidence before the ALJ also included
Martz's medical record, opinions from her treating physic{@s Shanahan and
Dr. Keith Sullivar), and three sets of interrogatories completed byrtédical
expert, Dr. GriscomAccording to Martz’'s medical recortietweer2007and
2010,hercondition stabilizedfterthe stem cell transplanh 2007andher
symptoms gradually improvedn February2010, sheequiredarthrosopic
surgery on her right knee but by March 2010, she was able to walk with a cane.
Dr. Shanahar-a boardcertified rheumatologist and former clinical director
of the Duke Scleroderma Research Center Clomighich Martz traveled for
treatment—provided sworn testimongn Februaryl8,2011, in which he described
Martz’s impairments and limitationd-le stated that he began treating Martz in
2006, anchehad seen her approximately every three motthieafte. He

explained that since February 2008, Martz had reported persistgmichoand
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fatiguethat he believed was most likely caused by hemolytic aneluigatz had

also exhibited numerous other symptoms, includtififness, pain, loss of

dexterity, joint swelling, visible Raynaud’s phenomena, low red blood cell counts,
and persistent but stable shortness of breath. Dr. Shanahan opined that Martz’'s
scleroderma met the requirements for section 14.04 of the listing of impairments
because it caused modertiesevere limitations in her lungs, skmusculoskeletal
system, lymphatic system, and vascular syst®loreover, die to fatigue, she

would need to rest frequently without restriction on her ability to take such breaks.
In Dr. Shanahan’s opinioiMartz could notperformevensedentary work on a
sustained basis.

On September 21, 2011, one day befordhird administrative haring, Dr.
Shanahan submitted additionalstatement via-nail concerning thémpact of
hematocritvolume percentage of red blood cels)d hemoglobirfprotein
molecules irthered blood cellspn Martz's work capability. He noted that Martz
suffered from decreased muscle efficiency, which in conjunction with her anemia,
impaired not only her muscpgerformance but alsanyability to improvethat
muscle performance. Although Martz’s interstitial lung disease was stable, it
would never improvelronically, the aggressive treatment thatdsaved Martz’'s
life also degradethenormal compensatory mechanisms that would have

otherwise restorelderfunctional capacity.The doctodid not believe that Martz's
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underlying disease and aggressive treatment “preserved her ability to work.”
Finally, he noted that focusing solely on a patient’'s hemateeding to
determine functional capacjtyithout considering the impact of the patient’s other
“comorbiditie$ was “nonsensical.”

Dr. Sullivan, a physician with thieuke University Medical CentebDfvision
of Cellular Therapy, alsotreated Martz during the same time period as Dr.
Shanahanlin June 2010prior to the fir$ hearing,Dr. Sullivan completed a
medical statement regarding Martz’s iliness, physical abilities, and limitations. He
opined that Martz was able to stand for 15 minutediate, sit for two hours a
time, andlift five pounds occasionallygut she could ndift on a frequent basis.
While she could occasionally bend and balance, she could never stoop, manipulate
her left and right hands, or raise her right and left arms aboshbeider. He
characterized Martz’s pain as severe and estimated thatosiedonly be able to
work two hours per day.

On February?25,2011,prior to the second hearing, Dr. Sullivan completed a
secondstatemenproviding further comments concernifMgartz’'s anemia.ln
particular, he stated that Martz tested positive for hemolytic anemia in March
2007, buthadnot requirel any treatment at that timeén May 2010however,
Martz started experiencing extreme fatigue and underwent further testing and a

bone marrow biopsy. Following a second bone marrow biopsy and more testing in
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Septerber 2010, it was confirmed that Martz had hemolytic anemia, but
“thankfully” therehad been nevidence of myelodysplasia or leukemia.

3. Interrogatories from Medical Expert, Dr. Griscom

At the request of thALJ, Dr. Griscora—an internist and medical expert
often used by the Commissiorereviewed Martz’s medical record and completed
a set ofmedical interrogatoriesn August 12, 2010Dr. Griscom concluded that
Martz’'s scleroderma qualified forameyearclosed period of disabilitpeginning
onthe date of her stem cell transplant.

Dr. Griscom completed second set of interrogatories on April 11, 2011
shortly after the second hearinglestated thaMartz’'s blood count was stable, but
acknowledged that she nonethelesgerienced “some” fatigue and laremia
never entirely disappearadter her stem cell transplarfurther, the anemia
concerns evidenh May 2010hadseemed to stabilize as of September 2010.
Based on the medical record, Dr. Griscom believed that Martz was disabled
through September 2010 due to her anemia andkrgge pain, but that she was
capable of performing sedentary work after September 20tperhaps even
before that tne.

On August 29, 2011, Dr. Griscom completed a third and final set of
interrogatories that were prepared by Martz’s attorney. Dr. Griscom statée that

did not believe that Martz’s fatigweasso significanthat she could not perform
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sedentary wik. He agreed with Dr. Shanahan that Martz’s scleroderma involved
all of her systems, but noted that Martz had not only improved dramatically since
her stem cell treatment, but that she was also active and motivated. Although her
chronic disease preventhdr fromattaining normal functionality, he did not
believe thiscompromised her ability to perform sedentary work.

C. ALJ's Decision

Following the administrative hearing, the ALJ issued a partially favorable
decision, finding that Martz was disabled from January 26, 2007, through
September 10, 201Neverthelessthe ALJ determined that Martz was capable of
performing substantial gainful activignd no longer disables of September 11,
2010 which was thsamedate that th@onexaminingexpert flagged as the date
on whichhe believed Martz to nlonger bedisabled

Based on his review dlfie evidence, the ALJ contled that from January
26, 2007 until September 10, 2010, Martz suffered from the following severe
Impairments: scleroderma, interstitial lung disease with polyarthritis, anemia,
Raynaud’s diseasppststem cell transplant and myeloablative bone marrow
status and osteoarthritis of thegght knee. The ALJ concluded that from January
26, 2007, through September 10, 2010, the severity of Martz’'s systemic

scleroderma met the requirements for section 14.04 of the listing of impairments.

10
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However, the ALJ determined that as of September 11, 2010, Martz no
longer met the requirements of section 14.04 based on her significant medical
improvementand that she wabereforecapable of performing a full range of light
work? as oftheabovedate Based on this finding, the AlcdncludedhatMartz
was capable of performing her past relevant work as an art teacher. The Appeals
Council denied Martz’s request for review.

D. District Court Proceedings

In April 2013, Martz filed a complaint in the district court challenging the
Commissioner’'slenialof disability insurance benefit8oth parties filed opposing
motions for summary judgmenThe district courtsubsequentlgranted summary
judgment in favor of the Commissionaffirming the ALJ’s decision. Martz now
appeals from that decision.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Standard of Review

We review the ALJ’s application of legal principlés novo Moore v.
Barnhart 405 F.3d 1208, 1211 (11th Cir. 200%)e review the ALJ’s findings of
fact to determine whether the latter is supported by substantial evidence.

Substantial evidence is “more than a scintilla, but less than a preponderance.

2 As set outnfra, “light work” is more strenuous than “sedentary work.”

® The parties consented to a magistrate judge entering final judgmergadeoof reference, this
opinion refers to the magistrate judge as the district court.

11
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Dyer v. Barnhart 395 F.3d 1206, 1210 (11th Cir. 20@§uotations omitted)

When reviewing fosubstantial evidence, we may not reweigh the evidence, decide
facts anew, or substitute our own judgment for the decision of the Commissioner.
Id. We must affirm the Commissioner’s decision if it is supported by substantial
evidence, regardless of whether “the proof preponderates against” the
Commissioner’s decisiond.

B.  Process for Determining Eligibility for Disability Insurance
Benefits

Disability is defined as the “inability to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reasonfoany medially determinable physical or mental impairment
which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to
last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months.” 42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(1)(A).
To be eligible for disability insurand®enefits, a claimant must establish that she
was under disability on or before the last date for which she was inddred.
8423(a)(1)(A), (c)(1)Moore 405 F.3d at 1211. Martz met the insurance
requirements through September 30, 2013, and therefore she must establish that
she was disabled on or before that d&ee Moore405 F.3d at 1211.

A claimant’s entitlement to disability benefits ends when the claimant
medical conditionmproves sufficiently to permher to engage in substantial
gainful activity. 42 U.S.C. § 423(f)(1). In cases such as this, where Martz was

found disabled for only Bmited period oftime, the ALJuses an eighétep inquiry

12
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to determine whether disability benefits should be terrathbased othe
claimant’smedical improvemerit.20 C.F.R. §8104.1594(f). At issue here are
steps seven and eight. Step seven calls on the ALJ to determine whether the
claimant has regained the capacity to perform her past relevant itk
claimart is unable to perform her past relevant work, the ALJ then proceeds to step
eight to decide whether the claimant could perform other work in the national
economy. See id 8§ 404.1594f)(7)-(8). Here, because he concluded that Martz
had improved enough twave regained sufficient capacity to resumefbiener
duties as an art teachére ALJ stopped at step seven

In determining a claimant’s ability to perform relevant work, an ALJ must
evaluate the claimant'sesidual functional capacityhereinafteffunctional
capacity”) which is defined as “the most [a claimant] can still do despite [her]

limitations.” 20 C.F.R§404.1545(a)(1). When evaluating a claimant’s functional

* In conducting the eight-step evaluation process, the ALJ considers first mhetcimat is
engaging in substantial gainful activity. 20 C.F.R. 8 404.1594(f)(1). The ALJ next considers
whether the claimant has an impairment or combination of impairments that meetalsitlegu
criteria for one of the listed impairmenttl. 8§ 404.1594(f)(2). At step three, the ALJ considers
whether there has been a medical improvemiehts 404.1594(f)(3). Then at step four, the ALJ
considers whether the improvement is related to the claimant’s ability to wbrk.

8 404.1594(f)(4). At step fivehé ALJ considers whether any exceptions to medical
improvement applyld. 8§ 404.1594(f)(5). At step six, the ALJ analyzes whether the claimant’s
current impairments in combination are sevdce.8 404.1594(f)(6). If the ALJ determines that
the claimant’s impairments are severe, then step seven requires that the judafe dval
claimant’s residual functional capacity to engage in substantial gainful iyt st

considering whether she has the ability to perform past relevant \ebr&.404.194(f)(7). If

the claimant cannot do her past relevant work, step eadlstforthe ALJto consider whether,
given her residual functional capacitiye claimanis able to do other work in the national
economy.ld. 8 404.1594(f)(8).

13
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capacity, the ALJ considers the claimant’s ability to do sustained retatal
activities on a regular and continuing basis, which means 8 hours per day, for 5
days per week. Soc. Sec. Ruling®t 1996 WL 374184, at *1 (S.S.A. July 2,
1996)° This functional capacity is used gmugewhetherthe claimant can do past
relevant wok. See Phillips v. BarnharB57 F.3d 1232, 1238 (11th Cir. 2004). In
assessing a claimanfignctional capacitythe ALJ considers “all of the relevant
medical and other evidence20 C.F.R.8404.1545(a)(3)Here, in her past work
as an art teachevjartz worked five days a week, eight hours a day. The job
entailed six hours of walking and one and-tia# hour of sitting and standirfg,
and Martz wasequired tdift 10-20 pounds
C. The Weight the ALJ Assigned to the Medical Opinion Evidence
Martz's treating physician, Dr. Shanahan, was of the opinion that Martz was
unable to perform sedentary work not only up to September 2010, but also after
that date and ughroughthe time of the third hearing. Although the ALJ credited

Dr. Shanahan’s opinion for the period of time from 2@&ptember 10, 2010, he

> “Social Searity Rulings are agency rulings published under the authority of the Commissioner
of Social Security and are binding on all components of the Administratiullivan v. Zebley

493 U.S. 521, 530 n.9 (1990) (quotations omittedg als®0 C.F.R. § 402.35(b) (stating that
Social Security Rulings are published in the Federal Register and are bindihganpmonents

of the Social Security Administration)Ve accord deferenc® these rulingsSee Fair v.

Shalalg 37 F.3d 1466, 1468—-69 (11th Cir. 1994).

® The ALJ's decision indicated that Martz’s previous posiéisran art teachéad required “6
hours of walking, and 1 hour of sitting, and %2 hour of sitting.” However, based on our reading
of Martz’s Work History Report, it appears the ALJ meant to say the positjamed six hours

of walking, one hour of standing, and one-half hoiusitting.

14
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did not credit the doctor’s opinion that Martz’s funcaboapacity remained

deficient after that date. Martz contends that the ALJ's assignment of little weight
to Dr. Shanahan’s opinion for the time period commencing on September 11, 2010,
was not based on a full and complete reading of the re@hielargues that the

judge’s implicit dsregardof herdoctor’s testimony, leading to the judge’s

conclusion that Martz did not remain disabledynsupported bgubstantial

evidence Similarly, she contends th#tat the ALJ erred by assigning greater

weight to Dr. Griscom’s opiniofor thatsametime periodbecause the opinion of a
nontexamining physician cannot constitute substantial evidenebdtd the

opinion of a treating physician.

When evaluating the medical opinion evidence, the ALJ must give the
opinion of a treating physician “substantaiconsiderable weight” unless there is
good cause not to do s@Vinschel v. Comm’r of Soce§ 631 F.3d 1176, 1179
(11th Cir. 2011) (quotations omitted); 20 C.F8R104.1527(c)(2) (stating that the
opinion of a treating physician will be given controlling weight if it is supported by
medically acceptable and laboratory diagnostic technignéss not inconsistent
with the other subantial evidence in the record). A treating source is defined as
“[the claimant’s] own physician ...who provides [the claimant] . . . with medical
treatment or evaluation and who has, or has had, an ongeatgént relationship

with [the claimant].” 20 C.F.R. 404.1502.

15
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We haveneverthelessoncluded that good cause exists for affording less
weight to a treating physician’s opinion whef{l) [that] opinion was not
bolstered by the evidence; (2) evidence supported a contrary finding; or (3) treating
physician’s opinion was conclusory or inconsistent with the doctor’'s own medical
records.” Phillips, 357 F.3d at 1241. Moreover, the opinion of a treating physician
may be entitled to less weight when the physician’s assessment conflicts with the
claimant’'s own reported daily activitie§ee id.If the ALJ chooses to assign less
weight to a treating physician’s opinidmweverhe must clearly articulate his
reasons for doing sdd.

Here, even though thEhysicians statements and testimony focused only on
whetherMartz could do sedentary wdrk-with her treating physicians saying that
she could not and the Commissioner’s 1gsamining expert opining that she

could—the ALJreached a conclusion that Martz could perform an even more

” Sedentary work is defined as “lifting no more than 10 pounds at a time and occatiftinglly
or carrying. . . . Although a sedentary job is defined as one which involves sittintgia cer
amount of walking and standing is often necessary in carrying out job duties.” 20 C.F.R.
§ 404.1567(a). Thougbedentary work occasionallgquiresbeing on one’s feet, “periods of
standing or walking should generally total no more than about 2 hours of an 8-hour workday, and
sitting should generally total approximately 6 hours of an 8-hour workday.” Soc. 8eg R
83-10, 1983 WL 31251, at *5 (S.S.A. Jan. 1, 1983). Thus, to find a claimant can perform
sedentary work, the ALJ muassess whether she cahfor approximately six hours per eight-
hour day, and stand or walk for two-hours per eight-hour day, on a regular and continuing
basis—which meas 8 hours per day, for five days per we8Ske id. Soc. Sec. Ruling, 96-8p,
1996 WL 374184, * 1 (July 2, 1996).

16
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strenuous level of work: light wofk The ALJ had to focus on that level of work
in orderto find that Martz could still perform her past relevant work as an art
teacher because the description of the latter job puts it in the “light work” category.
As explained, the ability to perform one’s past work, which is step seven of the
analysis, means that a claimant is no longer disabled. Stated anotheadvthg h
ALJ concluded that Martz coulthly perform less senuous sedentawork, he
would necessarilipave found that she could not perform past relevant work as
an art teacherSee20 C.F.R. $104.1594(f)(7). He then would haleen required
to move to step eight of the analysis to determine whether there was any other
work in the national econoniylartz could performatthe sedentaryevel: an
assessment thagpically requireghe testimony of a vocational expeBee20
C.F.R. 8404.1594f)(7)-(8); see also Phillips357 F.3d at 123910 (explaining
that obtaining testimony from a vocational expert is one method an ALJ may use to
determine whether a claimant can perform other work)

Thus, we must first determine whether substantial evidence supported the

ALJ’s determination that Martz could still perform light wak required by her

8 “Light work involves lifting no more than 20 pounds at a time with frequent lifting oyicarr

of objects weighing up to 10 poundsvea though the weight lifted may be very little, a job is in
this category when it requires a good deal of walking or standing. . . .” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1567(b).
“[T]he full range of light work requires standing or walking, off and on, for a total of
approximately 6 hours of an 8-hour workday.” Soc. Sec. Ruling 83-10, 1983 WL 31251, at *5
(S.S.A. Jan. 1, 1983). Stated another way, to find that a claimant can perform lighheork, t

ALJ mustconsider whether she can walk off and on for six hours per eight-hour day, for five
days per weekSee id. Soc. Sec. Ruling, 96-8p, 1996 WL 374184, *1 (July 2, 1996).

17
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previous position as an art teacher. That is not a tough call to make here. Nothing
In the testimony of Martz’s treating physicians or even in the statem#érg of
Commissioner’s expert suggests that Martz could perform work at this level.
Accordingly, we conclude that substantial evidence did not support the ALJ’s
decision that Martz could perform light work.

That being so, it would mean that, at most, Martz could be found capable of
performing onlysedentary work. But that conclusion, which would triggiep
eight of the analysjsvould thenrequire the ALJ to look to vocational experts to
determine whether jobs in that arena wdudévailable to Martz. fie ALJ did not
make this inquiry.

Further,Martz argues that even if we were focussadelyon whethershe
was capable of performirmnly sedentary worlafter September 11, 201€uch a
determination by the ALJ would constitute error because it would meathé¢hat
ALJ had unjustifiablyassigned greater weightmon-treating physiciamr.
Griscom’s opinion that Martz had experienced significant improvement thia to
opinion of treating physiciaridrs. Shanahaand Sullivarthat, given Martz’s
limitations, shecould not perforneven“sedentary work® The ALJ explained

that he assigned greater weight to Dr. Griscom’s opibemause the objective

® The ALJ did give significant weight to Martz’s treating physicians’ opisithat Martz was
disabled through September 10, 2010.

18
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medical evidencehoweda “lack of symptoms,” good energy levels, no shortness
of breath Jimited joint pain, and only “some” fatigualbeitfatigue had been a
prominent symptom in the past.

Based on our own review of the recandweverwe conclude thahe ALJ
failed to clearly arculate his reasons for crediting the opinion of the-non
examining physician over that Bbf. Shanahaand Sullivan in concluding that
Martz's condition had improved significantiyoughto allow her to pursue
sedentary work Dr. Shanahan-a boardcertified rheumatologisind the former
director of Duke University’s scleroderma research center €lthed been
Martz’s treating physiciasince 2006 While treating MartzDr. Shanahan saw
herapproximatelyevery three monthsDespiteDr. Shanahan’s longstdimg role
asMartz’'s treating physician during her lengthy and serious illniaesALJ found
thatDr. Shanahan’s opinion for the time period commencing on September 11,
2010,was entitled to less weightcause thebjectivemedical evidence showed
“a lack of symptoms” and only “sorhdatigue.

Thisfinding, howeverdoes not reflect a complete reading of the record.
See Foote v. Chate87 F.3d 1553, 1561 (11th Cir. 1995) (“[We] must consider
‘the entire record and take account of the evidence in the record which detracts
from the evidence relied on by the [Commissiorigfuoting Parker v. Bowen

793 F.2d 11771180(11th Cir. 1986))) Indeed, the record shows that while Martz

19
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enjoyed some episodesimprovement between 2010 and 20t hlso fiows that
there were timeduringthis sameeriodwhenher condition did not improvieom

a state that the ALJ agreed rendered her disabled. Further, in some inst@ances
condition worsened

For example,n a progress re dated Septemb8r 2016—justone day
before the date the ALJ determined Martz’'s disability termiratddrtz
complained of joint pain throughout her entire body, except for her shoulders and
elbows. She also reported “lots afigu€ andunderwentan extensive workip
for anemia Onthe positive side, she did not report any shortness of breath, muscle
weakness, joint swelling, alcerations related to Raynaud’s phenomena, leading
to Dr. Shanahan’s impression that, all things considéviedttz was “doing rather
well,” other thaninflammation in her hands.

She was not doing rather well four months latdrenon January 21, 2011,
shereportedto Dr. Shanahathat shecontinued to suffer from “profound chronic
fatigue” which made hefunable to do more than the minimum amount of daily
activities such as getting up, bathing, and eating.is fetigue, so pronounced that
shehad no energy tevengo out with her family, required her testthroughout
the day‘to alleviate thgrofoundsense of tiredness.On this visit,Martz also
reported some shortness of breafalmonary function tests showed a slight

improvement in lung volumes and diffusing capacity,dab¢minute walk test
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performed by Dr. Shanahalnd, in fact,show a slight decreaseMartz’s
functional capacity These results led Dr. Shanalarconclude that Martz’s
breathing issues were not a result of pulmonary vascular disease, but instead were
caused by heanemia.

Thereafter,m a June 17, 2011, progress note, Martz reported that she had
“done well” sinceher last visit, with the exception of persistent joint pain in her
right knee She made no complaints of shortness of breath, muscle weakness,
Raynaud’s phenomesralated ulcerations. Notwithstanding the absence of
complaints about shortness of bire&artz’s pulmonary function tests showed a
decrease in diffusing capacithat although mildwasstatistically significant.
Fatigue waslsostill listed as “present” ithe reviewof hersystems
Additionally, Dr. Shanahan requirédartz to undergaabone marrow biopsy due
to a slight increase inerhematocrinumbers

Contrary to the ALJ’s findings, these progress notes do not show a “lack of
symptoms” and only “some” fatigue. Instead, they show that Martz’s condition
fluctuatedbetween September 2010 and June Zifh that during certain times
she reported diminished symptoms, but during other times within this same period,
she indicated that heymptoms were severe enough to be incapacitating
particular, the progress mofrom January 22, 2011, shows that Martz’s fatigue was

so severe that she could notrdore than the essential life activities of bathing and
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getting up. Though therogress note from June 17, 2011, stated that Martz had
“done well” since her last visiit also showed that she had fatigue, dizziness, and
lightheadedness, in additiondatatistically significant decrease palmonary
diffusing capacity.

For these reasons, we concldlkdatthe ALJ has not articulated clear reasons
for discreditingDr. Shanahan’s opiniothat Martz’'s fatigue and breathing
difficulties were severe and persistent enough to render her unable to perform
sedentary work, as defined by regulati@f. McCruter v. Bowen/91 F.2d 1544,
1548(11th Cir. 1986)concluding that m administrative decision was not
supported by substantial evidence, where the ALJ focused on one aspect of the
record but ignored other contrary evidence). In sum, vgndgress not on
occasionshow some indication of improvemantMartz’s conditia, theywere
also consistent with Dr. Shanahan’s opinion that Martz had “persistent and
profound fatigue and tirednessfiida “persistent substantial reduction in both the
volume of air she can breathe and her diffusing capacity.”

What's moreDr. Shanahan’s opinion wa®lsteredby evidence in the
record from Martz’s other treating physician, Dr. Sullivan, a physician with the
Duke University Division of Cellular Therapy. On February 25, 2011, Dr.
Sullivanprovided a statemeniescribing Martz's anemiaHeexplained that

althoughMartz haddeveloped anemia in March 2Q@hedid not begin to
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experience extreme fatigue and low platelet and red blood cell counts until May
2010. Dr. Sullivars statemetnthatMartz had “thankfully” not developed
myelodysplastic syndrome or leukendi@es not change the fact that he alsted
that she continued to have persistent low red blood cell counts and low hemoglobin
andhematocriievelsassociated with heatitammune hemolytic anemia.”
Therecordshows thatMartz’s symptoms similarly waxed and wanidm
2007 through September 201the period of time in which the ALJ found her to
be disabled Indeed progress notes dated April 27, 2007 and March 22, 2010,
among othersstatedthat Martz was doingwell,” but the existence dhose
intermittent healthier days did not prompt the ALJ to find no disability during this
time period. Surprisingly then, the ALJ relies on the sasoets ofstatementghat
Martz was “doing well'in themorerecentprogress atesto discredit Dr.
Shanahan’sonfirmation of the same disabling symptoafier September 10,
201Q See Sharfarz v. Bowegd25 F.2d 2781(1th Cir.1987) (concluding that
statement in doctor’s progress note that claimant was doing “significantly better”
did not provide a sound basis to discredit opinion of doctor who had treated
claimant for six months)We are unable to discewhy the ALJconcludedhat
Martz’s waxing and waning symptomologlctated a finding of disability from

2007 until 2010, butiis same sort of symptomology did not dictate a finding of
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disability after Septembdi0, 2010, especially given the substantial increase of her
symptoms in January 20%4.

As to the ALJ’s assignment of significant weight to the opinion ohtive
examiningmedical expert, Dr. Grisconfor the time period commencing on
September 11, 201the opinion of a no@xamining physicianby itself,does not
constitute good cause for affording less weight to a treating physician’s opinion,
becausé¢he opnion of a norexamining physician is entitled to less weight when it
contradicts that of the treating physicialohns v. Bower821 F.2d 551, 554 (11th
Cir. 1987). Nor do “[t]he reports of reviewing nonexamining physicians . . .
constitute substantiavidence on which to base an administrative decision.”
Lamb v. Bower847 F.2d 698, 703 (11th Cir. 1988).

Just as the ALJ failed to offer clear reasons for discrediting the treating
physicians’ assessment of Martz’'s condition, it is similarly uncldsrve gave
Dr. Griscom’s opinion camnolling weight See Johns821 F.2d at 5 Lamh 847
F.2d at 703.Indeedjn light ofthe longstanding relationship and frequent
treatment Martzinderwentvith Dr. Shanahaand of the fact thedr. Shanahan’s
opinionwas bolstered by the medical recoad®r. Sullivan, the ALJ’s reasons for

assigning greater weight to the opinion of Dr. Griscom than to the opinion of Dr.

19 Giventhe absence of clearbrticulatedreasondy the ALJfor discreditng Dr. Shanahan’s
opinion, we do not address Martz's alternative argument that consideration of therggula
factors supports assigning enhanced weight to Dr. Shanahan’s opinion.
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Shanahan is not supported by the record evideBpecifically, both Drs.
Shanahan and Sullivan went irgeatdetail in their respective statememnts
describingMartz’s condition and in explaining why her impairments had resulted
in fatigue severe enough to render her unable to perform sedentaryWere
was no such level of dat in Dr. Grisconis briefer handwritten interrogatory
responses explaining why bencludedhat Martz did not suffer from the
symptoms her treating physicians reported her to.hBveGriscomremarked on
the fact that sme of her medical notes showed improvement, but improvement is a
relative concept and, by itself, does not convey whether or not a gaigent
recovered sufficiently to no longer be deemed unable to perform particular work
on a sustained basisurther, n his responsefr. Griscomalludes tovarious lab
testresults, buhedoes not explain hothese objectivaneasuresf the
functioning of Martz’s systems undermine her or her doctors’ testimony.

In short, we conclude that the ALJ did not articuldsaicreasons for
accepting the comparatively conclusstgtementsf the expert over thseof
Martz’s treating physicians.

D. Credibility Determination

Martz also argues that the ALJ improperly discredited her subjective
testimony regarding the severity her impairment®eginning on September 11,

201Q She contends that her limited work activity and minimal daily activittes
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not demonstrate an ability to perform substantial gainful activity nor do they
contradict her claim of disablg impairments

To establish a disability based on subjective testimony of pain and other
symptoms, the claimant must establisil) evidence of an underlying medical
condition; and (2) either (a) objective medical evidence confirming the severity of
the alleged pairor (b) that the objectively determined medical condition can
reasonably be expected to give rise to the claimed’p&iilson v. Barnhart284
F.3d 1219, 1225 (11th Cir. 2002); 20 C.F.R. § 404.1529.

We have determined that credibility determinasi@re within the province
of the ALJ. Moore, 405 F.3d at 1212Neverthelessf the ALJ rejects a claimant’s
subjective testimony regarding pain, the ALJ must articulate specific reasons for
doing so.Wilson 284 F.3d at 12250therwiseg the claimans testimony must be
accepted as trudd. Although the ALJ need naite to “particular phrases or
formulations” to supportis credibility determination, the ALJ must do more than
merely reject the claimant’s testimony. Insteaddeisisionmust provde a
reviewing courtwith a basis to conclude that the ALJ considered the claimant’s
medical condition as a whold®yer, 395 F.3d at 121(juotations omitted) “A
clearly articulated credibility finding with substantial supporting evidence in the

recordwill not be disturbed by a reviewing courtFoote 67 F.3dat 1562.
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At the final administrative hearing, Martz testified that her chronic fatigue
prevented her from returning to work ftilne. Sheexplainedhat the fatigue is so
severe sometimes that she cannot function or get off of the cdhehALJ
credited Martz’s testimony regarding the limiting effect of her impairments on her
ability to work until September 10, 2010. However, the ALJ did not fradible
Martz's statements regarding the intensity, persistence, and limiting effects of her
symptoms for the time period commencing on September 11, 20t extent
those statementgereinconsistent with his ultimatgetermination that Martz had
thefunctional capacityo perform the full range of light work

Here, theALJ’s reasonindor discrediting Martz’s subjective complaints of
impairment isnot supported by substantial evidenddwe ALJ found that Martz’s
medically determinable impairmerdsuld reasonably be expected to produce the
alleged symptomsSee Wilson284 F.3cat 1225. But the ALJ concluded thae
evidence contradicted Martz’s testimony about the extent of her impairments
becaus€l) the objective medical evidence showed “a lack of symptoms” and only
“some” fatigue; (2) Martz worked two days per week, seven hours per day; and
(3) Martztestified that she cooks and drives.

As explained abovyebsent some clearer explanation by the Aubstantial
evidence does not support the ALd&cision that Martz’s testimorwas

undermined by objective medical evidence. Again, we note thawtlence
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provided by Martz’s treating physicians was consistent with Martz’s subjective
complaints of impairmentSee supraPart. 11.C

The ALJalsoreachedis conclusion that Martz could perform light work
basedin part,on her daily activities and the fact that she perforpatitime
work. Martz acknowledged that she obtained aane jobat the Bbca Raton Art
Museum in August 2010, that called taro dayswork per weekfor seven hours
per day™' Indeed the applicableegulationsstatethat the work a claimant has
done during the period during which she claims to be disabled, even if the work
doesnot constitutesubstantial gainful activity, may show that the claimant is able
to do more than she actually di®ee20 C.F.R. 8041571 (“The work . . . that
[the claimant has] done during any period in which [the claimant believes she is]
disabledmay show that [the claimant is] able to work at the &utigl gainful
activity level. . . . Even if the work [the claimant has] done was not substantial
gainful activity, it may showhat [the claimant is] able to doorework than [she]
actually did.”)

Yet, thatMartz held aparttime job that called foworking two days per
week,for seven hours per dagoes not necessarily indicate that she had the ability
to perform lightwork or sedentary workn a continued and sustained baass

found by theALJ. Again, when evaluating a claimantfanctional capacitythe

11 She explained that she did so because she had always worked and had become depressed just
sitting idle in her home throughoeachday.
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ALJ considers the claimant’s ability to do sustained wretted activities on a
regular and continuing basis, which means 8 hours per day, for 5 days per week.
Soc. Sec. Ruling 98p, 196 WL 374184, at *1 (S.S.A. July 2, 1996As noted

light work requirestanding or walkingon and off for approximately six hours

out of an eightour day. 20 C.F.R. £04.1567(b)Soc. Sec. Ruling 830, 1983

WL 31251,at *5 (S.S.AJan. 1, 1988 Nothing in Martz’s partime job duties
suggesthat she complied, or could comply, with those requiremefdgsnoted,

Martz contended that she was unable to work more than the seven hour a day, two
day a week schedule. FurthBtartzZs employer was vergccommodating of her
limitations allowingher to stay seated as long as she needed tevantb go
homeearlyif necessary.

As to herdaily activities Martz testified that she is able to cook simple
meals and to drive short distanc&ut shealso testified that her husband does the
more heavyduty household chores. The regulations permit the Alcdnsidera
claimant’s daily activitiesvhen evaluating her sjdztive symptoms of
impairment. See20 C.F.R. 804.1529(c)(3) (indicating that ti#d_J looks at
several factors, including the claimant’s daily activities when evaluating the

claimant’s subjective symptom¥).However,having the stamina to coskmple

12 At oral argument, the Commissioner noted that Martz also began volunteering with
adolescents two days per week in March 2010. Though this assertion is supportedgogss pro
note dated MarcB2, 2010, it is not clear from the record the number of hdiartz volunteered
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meals ando drive five to ten miles at a timgoes nohecessarilygonstitute
substatial evidencesufficientto discredit Martz’s claims that she is not able to
perform light(or perhapsven sedentaryyork on a regular and continuing basis
given her claim of ongoing and persistent fatigGé. Foote 67 F.3d at 1561
(explaining that substantial evidence did not support the ALJ’s discrediting of
claimant’s testimony that her pain was so disabling so as to affect her residual
functional capacity because, although she testified that she was abletoalo s
daily activities, she also testified that she was unable to do other daily aqtivities

Giventhe ALJ’s limited explanatiofor discreditingMartz’s subjective
complaints of impairment, we remand for the district court to instruct the ALJ to
reassesMartz’s credibilityin light of the above principge Cf. Swindle v.
Sullivan 914 F.2d 222, 226 (11th Cir. 199@¢manding for ALJ to reconsider
claimant’sfunctional capacitypecause ALJ improperly discredited claimant’s
subjective complaints and therefore failed to give adequate consideration to the
effect of the claimant’s limitations on her ability to wark)

E. Denial of Martz's Request to CrossExamine the Medical Expert

Martz argues that the ALJ violated her due process rights by not pegmittin

her to crosexamine Dr. Griscom. She contends that the ALJ denied her request

or whatsorts ofactivities the volunteering entailed. In short, it is not clear whéfllaetz’'s
volunteering supported the ALXgnctional capacity eiermination. Because the ALJ did not
refer to Martz’s volunteer activities when discrediting her testinwng concluding that she
had the functional capacity to perform light work, we do not consider Martz’'s volunteer
activities here.
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for crossexamination based on his overwhelming caseload, and not because he
determined that crossxamination wasrelevantto the issues presented in the
case.

Due process requires the “opportunity to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and
in a meaningful manner.”"Mathews v. Eldridge424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976A
claimant isalsoentitled to a full and fair hearingelley v. Heckler761 F.2d
1538, 1540 (11th Cir. 1985) (explaining that when a claimant is not represented by
counsel, the administrative record must show that the claimant received a full and
fair hearing).

The determination of whether cresgsamination is warranted appears to be
within the discretion of the ALJSee Demasthv. Sec’y of Dep’t of HH®13
F.2d 882, 884 (11th Cir. 1990) (assuming, without deciding, that that the ALJ has
the discretion to detmine whether crosexamination is warranted). Indeed, the
Social Security Regulations provide that, “[w]hen it is reasonably necessary for the
full presentation of a case, an administrative law judge or a member of the Appeals
Council may, on his or her own initiative or at the request of a party, issue
subpoenas for the appearance and testimony of wetmess” 20 C.F.R.

§ 404.950(d(1)."* Moreover though theSocial Security Administration’s

13 The Administrative Procedures Act further provides that a party may “cosuciticross-
examinatioras may be required for a full and true disclosure of the facts.” 5 U.S.C. § 556(d);
see Richardson v. Perale®2 U.S. 389, 409-10 (1971) (applying & 556(d) of the
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Hearing, Litigation and Appeals Manual (“HALLEX"¥ytateghat thepreferred
method for obtaining thepinion of a medical expeid throughlive testimony, it
also states that the ALJ may obtain such testimony through medical interrogatories.
HALLEX, Vol. I, § I-2-5-30, Medical or Vocabnal Expert Opinior-General
available athttps://ssa.gov/OP_Home/hallexy2/I-2-5-30.html(last visited March
1, 2016) But see Roberts v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec. Addid F.3d 931, 933 (9th
Cir. 2011) (statinghat the HALLEX is not bindinguthority).

After Dr. Griscom completed the first set of interrogatQraes
administrative hearing was held in March 2011. At the hearing, the ALJ dgreed
send Dr. Griscom a second set of interrogat@ie¢ke requesif Martz’s attorney
because the first set did not address Martz’'s anemia. Then after Dr. Griscom
completed the second set of interrogatories, the ALJ alldhatk’s attorneyto
drafther own set of interrogatories for Dr. Griscom to complete. Martzvexte
the completed interrogatories on September 2, 2011, several weeks before the third
and final administrative hearing held on September 22, 2011.

Although the ALJ denied Martz’s request to cregamine Dr. Griscomye
conclude thaher due processghts were not violatedShe was given the

opportunity to challenge and rebut Dr. Griscom’s findings before the ALJ issued

Administrative Procedures Act in the social security context, concluding thatatutoy

provision was consistent with the authority given to the Commissioner under the ®cciatyS
Act); Calvin v. Chater73 F.3d 87, 91 (6th Cir. 1996) (stating that social security hearings must
comply with the requirements of the Administrative Proces/Act).
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his decision.Further, heinterrogatoriesn this casanet the demandsf due
process by providintylartz with a meaningful opportunity to confront the evidence
adverse to her claimSee Flatford v. Chate®3 F.3d 12961306(6th Cir.1996)
(“We are unpersuaded that interrogatories may not provide a meaningful
opportunity for a disability claimant to confront the evidence he bediéy be
adverse to his claim.”). “Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural
protections as the particular situation demandédthews 424 U.S. at 334This
Is especially true given the situatithrat unfolded herayhere the medical expert
completedhreesets of interrogatories prior to theal administrative hearing.
Martz was allowedo draft the third set of interrogatories ghdre was no
limitation on her ability to ask Dr. Griscom any question that she deemed relevant.
In fact, she specifically asked Dr. Griscom to explain the lbaskss conclusions
concerningherfatigue ando identify any reasons why he would discobDnt
Shanahan’spinion regarding the impact of her impairments

Neverthelesselying on our decision iDemenechthe district court
determined that Martz’s due process rights were violagsdwuse the ALJ relied
heavily on Dr. Griscom’s report but did not permit Mddzrossexamine him'*
Martz urges us to concludeas did the trict court—thatprocedural due process

required that she be permittedcmssexamine Dr. Griscomln Demenecha

4 The district court nevertheless affirmed the ALJ’s decision to deny contidisiakility
benefits, concluding that any error by the ALJ in disallowing cexssnination was harmless.
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consultative physician examined the claimant and submitted a medicalakgort
the administrative hearingoemenech913 F.2d aB83-84. That physician found
that the claimant’s condition had improviedthe pointhe could return to work.
Id. Refusing to allow the claimaid respond to the report or to crassamine the
consultativephysician, the ALJ determined thae claimanhhad experienced a
medical improvement and could return to his past relevant wdrkOn appeal,
we concludedhat the ALJ should have permitted the claimant to eeassnine or
depose the physician because such questioning could have revealed ithiarphys
methods for arriving at his conclusions, the eviddreeliedon, and the certainty
with which he concluded that the claimant was no longer disahiledt 885.
Accordingly, we held that “where the ALJ substantially relies upon ahgasing
medical report that directly contradicts the medical evidence that supports the
claimant’s contentions, crogxamination is of extraordinary utility.Id.

The present case, however, is distinguishable Demeneclibecause it
does not involve a posiearing medical repotf. See id Unlike the claimant in
DemenechMartz had the opportunity to challenge and rebut Dr. Griscom’s

findings before the ALJ issued his decisi@ee id.see also Cowart v. Schweiker

15 As noted by the Commissioner at oral argument, tsehEaringmedical reports in
Demeneclare also distinguishable from the present case because they involved a ceasultati
medical examination and new medical findin§ee DemenecB13 F.2d at 883-8%ere, Dr.
Griscomdid not make any new medical findings, but instead merely quoted excerpts from the
medical records provided by Martz to explain why he believed her able to do sgdentar

Dr. Griscom brought no new information to the table.
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662F.2d 731, 737 (11th Cir. 1981) (noting ta¢ were concernetthatthe
claimant had no opportunity to challenge or rdhefphysician’s findings ira
posthearing medical report). Moreoveqthing inDemeneclsuggests that its
holding applies with equdbrce tomedicalreports submitted prior to the
administrative hearing, or that a claimant has a due process right texansse
a physician where the claimamshad the opportunity to rebut or challenge the
medical reporthrough alternative meaysuch as interrogatorieshich Martz did
here See generally Demened@i3 F.2d 88385. Indeed,even nowMartzis quite
vague about what additional questions siight have asked Dr. Griscom had he
appeared live®

As a final matter, the record does not support Martz's contention that the
ALJ denied her request to cressamine Dr. Griscom based on his administrative
workload. Although the ALJ referenced his “atrocious” workload, he did not deny
Martz's request torossexanine Dr. Griscom on that basis. Instead, the ALJ
denied the request because Martz dlagadybeen given the opportunity to submit

multiple interrogatorieto the expert

16 Even were there a dprocess violation, Martz hatsodemonstrated no prejudice. Indeed,

in comparison with the detailed testimony of the treating physidlaasparseness and
conclusory nature of Dr. Griscom’s opinion, in which he mostly repeated snippets of phrases
the medical record$ias been very helpful to Martz in persuading us that the ALJ did not satisfy
the requirements necessary to allow the opinion of a non-examining physician to truof@tha
treating physician Martz has offered no explanation how a further examination of Dr. Griscom,
in which Martz proddedthim toactuallyput some meat on the bones of his generalized opinion,
would have helped her cause. Indeed, Martz has identified no specific evidencenoatiofor

that she contends would have been uncovered by live cross-examination of the doctor.
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In short, Martz had the opportunity to be heard in a “meaningful manner”
because sheas able to challender. Griscom’s responses to the interrogatories
before the ALJ issued his decisioBhe was able to argue inferences contrary to
the doctor’s inferences based on what was an undisputed r&sedVathews
424 U.S. at 33; seealsoCowart, 662 F.2d at 73Memenech913 F.2d 882, 884
85. We thereforeonclude that Martz’'s due process rights were not violated.
[ll. CONCLUSION

We cannot conclude thatilsstantial evidencsupportsthe ALJ’s decision
because he did nokearly articulate his reasons for (1) assigning less weight to the
treating physiciarisopinion than to thatfdhe norexamining physician ang)
discrediting Martz’s testimony regarding her subjective complaintagairment.
Accordingly, weVACATE the district court’order grantinggummary judgment
in favor of the Commissioner aiREMAND with instructions to remand the case

to the Commissioner for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.
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